

Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) and Health Education

Guidance for governing bodies, proprietors, head teachers, principals, senior leadership teams, teachers

Draft for consultation: July 2018

Contents

Secretary of State Foreword	3
Summary	5
What is the status of this guidance	5
About this guidance	5 5
Who this guidance is for	5
What this guidance updates	5
Introduction	6
Summary of requirements	7
Developing a policy	8
What is required?	9
Religion and belief, including teaching in schools with a religious character	10
Use of materials	10
Equality	11
Pupils with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND)	11
Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT)	12
Governors	12
Working with parents/carers and the wider community	12
Right to be excused from Sex Education (commonly referred to as the right to	
withdraw)	13
Working with external agencies	14
Relationships Education (Primary)	14
By the end of primary school:	16
National curriculum for science	17
Managing tricky questions	17
Sex Education (Primary)	18
Relationships and Sex Education (RSE): Secondary	19
By the end of secondary school:	21
National curriculum for science	23
The Law	23
Physical health and mental wellbeing	24
Physical health and mental wellbeing: Primary	25
Physical health and mental wellbeing: Secondary	27
Menstruation	28
National curriculum for PE and sport	30
National curriculum for computing	30
Delivery and teaching strategies	31
Pupil Referral Units/Alternative Provision	31
Senior leadership	31
Whole-school approach	31
Flexibility	32
Safeguarding, reports of abuse and confidentiality	32
Assessment	33
Accountability	33
Annex A Regulations	34
Annex B Suggested resources	35
Annex C Cross-government strategies	37

Secretary of State Foreword

Today's children and young people are growing up in an increasingly complex world and living their lives seamlessly on and offline. This presents many positive and exciting opportunities, but also challenges and risks. In this environment, children and young people need to know how to be safe and healthy, and how to manage their academic, personal and social lives in a positive way.

This is why we have made Relationships Education compulsory in all primary schools in England and Relationships and Sex Education compulsory in all secondary schools, as well as making Health Education compulsory in all state-funded schools. The key decisions on these subjects have been informed by a thorough engagement process, including a public call for evidence that received over 23,000 responses from parents, young people, schools and experts.

The depth and breadth of views is clear, and there are understandable and legitimate areas of contention. Our guiding principles have been that compulsory subject content must be age appropriate. It must be taught sensitively and inclusively, with respect for the backgrounds and beliefs of pupils and parents while always with the aim of providing pupils with the knowledge they need of the law.

We are clear that parents and carers are the prime educators for children on many of these matters. Schools complement and reinforce this role, and have told us that they see building on what pupils learn at home as an important part of delivering a good education. We agree, and congratulate the many schools delivering outstanding provision to support the personal development and pastoral needs of their pupils. We are determined that the subjects must be deliverable and give schools flexibility to shape their curriculum according to the needs of their pupils and communities.

In primary schools, we want the subjects to put in place the key building blocks of healthy, respectful relationships, focusing on family and friendships, both on and offline. This will sit alongside the essential understanding of how to be healthy. At secondary, teaching will build on the knowledge acquired at primary and develop further pupils' understanding of health, with an increased focus on risk areas such as drugs and alcohol, as well as introducing knowledge about intimate relationships and sex.

Teaching on mental wellbeing is central to these subjects, especially as a priority for parents is their children's happiness. We know that children and young people are increasingly experiencing challenges, and the new subject content will give them the knowledge and capability to take care of themselves and get support if problems arise.

All of this content should support the wider work of schools in helping to foster pupil wellbeing and develop resilience and virtues that we know are fundamental to pupils being happy, successful and productive members of society. Central to this is pupils' ability to believe that they can achieve goals, both academic and personal; to stick to tasks that will help them achieve those goals, even when the reward may be distant or uncertain; and to bounce back from knocks and challenging periods in their lives.

This should be complemented by development of virtues like kindness, generosity, self-sacrifice and honesty. We have endeavoured to ensure the content is proportionate and deliverable. Whilst we are not mandating content on financial education or careers, we want to support the high quality teaching of these areas in all schools as part of a comprehensive programme, which complements the national curriculum where

appropriate and meets the ambitions of the Careers Strategy. We know that many schools will choose to teach the compulsory content within a wider programme of Personal, Social, Health and Economic Education or similar. Schools are encouraged to continue to do so, if this is right for them, and build on established, high quality programmes.

These subjects represent a huge opportunity to help our children and young people flourish. The knowledge and attributes gained will support their own, and others', wellbeing and attainment and help young people to become successful and happy adults who make a meaningful contribution to society.



Summary

What is the status of this guidance?

This is statutory guidance from the Department for Education issued under Sections 34 and 35 of the Children and Social Work Act 2017.

Schools¹ must have regard to the guidance, and where they depart from those parts of the guidance which state that they should (or should not) do something they will need to have good reasons for doing so.

About this guidance

This document contains information on what schools **should** do and sets out the legal duties with which schools **must** comply when teaching Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) and Health Education.

Unless otherwise specified, 'school' means all schools, whether maintained, non-maintained or independent schools, including academies and free schools, non-maintained special schools, maintained special schools and alternative provision, including pupil referral units.

Who this guidance is for

This statutory guidance applies to all schools², and is therefore aimed at:

- governing bodies of maintained schools (including schools with a sixth form) and non-maintained special schools;
- trustees or directors of academies and free schools;
- proprietors of independent schools (including academies and free schools);
- management committees of pupil referral units (PRUs);
- teachers, other school staff and school nurses;
- head teachers, principals and senior leadership teams; and
- Diocese and other faith representatives.

What this guidance updates

This guidance replaces the Sex and Relationship Education guidance (2000).

The guidance should be read in conjunction with:

- Keeping Children Safe in Education (statutory guidance)
- <u>Behaviour and Discipline in Schools</u> (advice for schools, including advice for appropriate behaviour between pupils)
- Equality Act 2010 and schools
- SEND code of practice: 0 to 25 years (statutory guidance)
- <u>Alternative Provision</u> (statutory guidance)
- Mental Health and Behaviour in Schools (advice for schools)

¹, ² Guidance on Health Education does not apply to independent schools, which must meet the Independent School Standards as set out in the Education (Independent School Standards) Regulations 2014. However, they may find the sections on PSHE helpful. It does, however, apply to academies and free schools.

- <u>Preventing and Tackling Bullying</u> (advice for schools, including advice on cyberbullying)
- <u>Sexual violence and sexual harassment between children in schools</u> (advice for schools)
- The Equality and Human Rights Commission Advice and Guidance (provides advice on avoiding discrimination in a variety of educational contexts)
- Promoting Fundamental British Values as part of SMSC in schools (guidance for maintained schools on promoting basic important British values as part of pupils' spiritual, moral, social and cultural (SMSC)
- <u>SMSC requirements for independent schools (guidance for independent schools on how they should support pupils' spiritual, moral, social and cultural development).</u>
- National Citizen Service guidance for schools

Introduction

- 1. To embrace the challenges of creating a happy and successful adult life, pupils need knowledge that will enable them to make informed decisions about their wellbeing, health and relationships and to build their self-efficacy. Pupils can also put this knowledge into practice as they develop the capacity to make sound decisions when facing risks, challenges and complex contexts. Everyone faces difficult situations in their lives. These subjects can support young people to develop resilience, to know how and when to ask for help, and to know where to access support.
- 2. High quality, evidence-based and age-appropriate teaching of these subjects can help prepare pupils for the opportunities, responsibilities and experiences of adult life. They can also enable schools to promote the spiritual, moral, social, cultural, mental and physical development of pupils, at school and in society. The duties on schools in this area are set out in legislation.³
- 3. The Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education and Health Education (England) Regulations 2019, made under sections 34 and 35 of the Children and Social Work Act 2017, make Relationships Education compulsory for all pupils receiving primary education and Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) compulsory for all pupils receiving secondary education. They also make Health Education compulsory in all schools except independent schools. Personal, Social, Health and Economic Education (PSHE) continues to be compulsory in independent schools.

³ Maintained schools and academies are required to provide a curriculum, which is broad and balanced in accordance with Section 78 of the Education Act 2002. Part I of the Schedule to the Education (Independent School Standards) Regulations 2014 requires independent schools other than academies to make provision for PSHE (paragraph 2(2)(d)), and to prepare pupils for the opportunities, responsibilities and experiences of life in British society (paragraph 2(2)(i). Part 2 of the Schedule requires independent schools (including academies) to meet the standard relating to the Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural development of pupils.

⁴ For ease of reference, this guidance refers to primary schools and secondary schools, but the statutory requirements refer to pupils receiving primary/secondary education.

- 4. This guidance also sets out both the rights of parents/carers⁵ to withdraw pupils from sex (but not relationships) education and the process that head teachers should follow in considering a request from a parent. Parents have the right to request that their child be withdrawn from some or all of sex education delivered as part of statutory RSE.
- 5. Schools are free to determine how to deliver the content set out in this guidance, in the context of a broad and balanced curriculum. Effective teaching in these subjects will ensure that core knowledge is broken down into units of manageable size and communicated clearly to pupils, in a carefully sequenced way, within a planned programme or lessons. Teaching will include sufficient well-chosen opportunities and contexts for pupils to practise applying and embedding new knowledge so that it can be used skilfully and confidently in real life situations.
- 6. Many schools are choosing to deliver relationships or sex education as part of a timetabled PSHE programme, with good outcomes. Where that provision meets the requirements of this high level framework of core content they are free to continue with this model. Other schools may choose different curricular models for delivery.
- 7. The lead teacher will need to work closely with colleagues in related curriculum areas to ensure Relationships Education, RSE and Health Education programmes complement, and do not duplicate, content covered in national curriculum⁶ subjects such as citizenship, science, computing and PE. It is important to check prior knowledge and build this into the planning process to ensure a smooth transition between primary and secondary.
- 8. Schools should be aware that for many young people the distinction between the online world and other aspects of life is less marked than for some adults. Young people often operate very freely in the online world and by secondary school age some are likely to be living a substantial proportion of their life online. Where topics and issues outlined in this guidance are likely to be encountered by pupils online, schools should take this into account when planning how to support them in distinguishing between different types of online content and making well-founded decisions.
- 9. In this guidance where topics occur equally on and offline they are accommodated in the core content under the most applicable theme with the assumption that teachers will deliver them in a context that reflects that pupils will be negotiating issues and opportunities in these areas on and off line. Where there are topics with exclusively online content or implications this is drawn out explicitly.

Summary of requirements

10. The subjects are part of the basic school curriculum (as previously for sex education in maintained secondary schools), which allows schools flexibility in

⁵ Parents used henceforth to mean both parents and carers.

⁶ The national curriculum does not apply to academies or independent schools.

developing their planned programme, integrated within a broad and balanced curriculum.

11. The guidance applies to:

Relationships Education	Relationships and Sex Education	Health Education
All schools providing	All schools providing	All maintained schools
primary education, including	secondary education, including	including schools with a
all-through schools and middle schools (includes	all-through schools and middle schools (includes schools as	sixth form, academies, free schools, non-
schools as set out in the	set out in the Summary	maintained special
Summary section).	section).	schools and alternative
	oddion).	provision, including pupil
		referral units.
		The statutory
		requirement to provide
		Health Education does
		not apply to
		independent schools – PSHE is already
		compulsory as
		independent schools
		must meet the
		Independent School
		Standards as set out in
		the Education
		(Independent School
		Standards) Regulations
		2014. Independent schools, however, may
		find the principles in the
		guidance on Health
		Education helpful in
		planning an age-
	and analytic shift form called	appropriate curriculum.

The statutory requirements do not apply to sixth form colleges, 16-19 academies or Further Education colleges, although we would encourage them to support students by offering these subjects. These settings may find the principles helpful, especially in supporting pupils in the transition to FE.

Developing a policy

- 12. All schools must have in place a written policy for Relationships Education and RSE. Schools must consult parents in developing and reviewing their policy. Schools should ensure that the policy meets the needs of pupils and parents and reflects the community they serve.
- 13. There are many excellent examples in which schools have established clear sex education policies in consultation with parents, governors and the wider

community, and where they are already delivering effective programmes. Schools should build on that good work in adapting to these new requirements.

What is required?

14. All schools must have an up-to-date policy, which is made available to parents and others. Schools must provide a copy of the policy free of charge to anyone who asks for one, and should publish the policy on the school website⁷.

15. The policy should:

their child.

Policies for mandatory subjects		Policy for non- mandatory subjects
For primary education ⁸	For secondary education	For primary schools
		that may choose to
		teach sex education
Define Relationships	Define Relationships and Sex	Define any sex education
Education	Education	they choose to teach
		other than that covered
		in the science curriculum.
Set out the subject content, how it is taught and who is responsible for teaching it.		
Describe how the subject is monitored and evaluated.		
Include information to Include information about a		Include information about
clarify why parents <i>do not</i> parent's right to request that		a parent's right to
have a right to withdraw ⁹ their child be excused.		request that their child be

Confirm the date by which the policy will be reviewed.

Typical policies are likely to include sections covering:

 details of content/scheme of work and when each topic is taught, taking account of the age of pupils

excused.

- who delivers either Relationships Education or RSE
- how the policy has been produced, and how it will be kept under review, in both cases working with parents
- how delivery of the content will be made accessible to all pupils, including those with SEND
- explanation of a right to withdraw
- requirements on schools in law
- how often the policy is updated
- who approves the policy
- 16. In secondary schools, RSE will often address aspects of relationships and sex education in an integrated way within a single topic. Schools should develop programmes of teaching which prioritise effective delivery of the content, and do not need artificially to separate sex education and Relationships Education.

⁷ If a school does not have a website, they should ensure that the policy is available by other means.

⁸ The regulations apply to the teaching of all primary and secondary pupils respectively. This includes all types of schools to which the regulations apply.

17. The policy should also reflect the views of teachers and pupils. Listening and responding to the views of young people will strengthen the policy, ensuring that it meets the needs of all pupils.

Religion and belief, including teaching in schools with a religious character

- 18. A good understanding of pupils' faith backgrounds and positive relationships between the school and local faith communities and leaders help to create a constructive context for the teaching of these subjects.
- 19. In all schools, when teaching these subjects, the religious background of all pupils must be taken into account when planning teaching, so that sensitive topics that need to be taught are appropriately handled. Schools must ensure they comply with the relevant provisions of the Equality Act (2010), under which religion or belief are protected characteristics.
- 20. In schools with a religious character, the distinctive faith perspective on relationships may be taught, and balanced debate may take place about issues that are seen as contentious. For example, the school may wish to reflect on faith teachings about certain topics as well as how their faith institutions may support people in matters of relationships and sex. Schools without a religious character may also wish to introduce pupils to different faith perspectives regarding the issues covered in these subjects, often in Religious Education lessons.
- 21. In all schools, teaching should reflect the law as it applies to relationships, so that young people clearly understand what the law allows and does not allow, and the wider legal implications of decisions they may make.

Use of materials

- 22. There are a lot of excellent resources available, free-of-charge, which schools can draw on when delivering these subjects. Schools should assess each resource that they propose to use carefully to ensure that it is appropriate for the age and maturity of pupils, and sensitive to their needs. Differentiated resources may be needed for children who have special educational needs.
- 23. Schools should also ensure that, when they consult with parents, they provide examples of the resources that they plan to use as this can be reassuring for parents, and enables them to continue the conversations started in class at home.
- 24. In addition, there are varieties of resources targeted at young people that can be helpful to use to complement teaching in the classroom. Public Health England, for example, have produced a website for young people which covers a broad range of health issues in a format which is accessible for young people, targeted at secondary-age pupils. This includes Rise Above resources for lessons linked from the PSHE Association website.

25. A list of some of the resources, which are available free-of-charge, can be found in Annex B.

Equality

- 26. Schools are required to comply with relevant requirements of the Equality Act 2010. Further guidance is available for schools in <u>The Equality Act 2010 and schools</u> advice. Schools⁸ should pay particular attention to the <u>Public sector equality duty</u> (PSED) (s.149 of the Equality Act).
- 27. Under the provisions⁸ of the Equality Act, schools must not unlawfully discriminate against pupils because of their age, sex, race, disability, religion or belief, gender reassignment, pregnancy or maternity, marriage or civil partnership, or sexual orientation (collectively known as the protected characteristics). Schools must also make reasonable adjustments to alleviate disadvantage and be mindful of the SEND Code of Practice when planning for these subjects.
- 28. Provisions within the Equality Act allow schools to take positive action, where it can be shown that it is proportionate, to deal with particular disadvantages affecting one group because of a protected characteristic. Schools should be aware that some pupils are more vulnerable to exploitation, bullying and other issues due to the nature of their SEND. This should be taken into consideration in designing and teaching these subjects. A school, could, for example, consider taking positive action to support girls if there was evidence that they were being disproportionately subjected to sexual violence or sexual harassment.
- 29. Schools should consider the makeup of their own student body, including the gender and age range of their pupils, and consider whether it is appropriate or necessary to put in place additional support for children with particular protected characteristics (which mean that they are potentially at greater risk). Schools should consider what they can do to foster healthy and respectful peer-to-peer communication and behaviour between boys and girls, and provide an environment, which challenges perceived limits on children based on their gender or any other characteristic, including through these subjects and as part of a whole-school approach.

Pupils with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND)

- 30. Relationships Education, RSE and Health Education must be accessible for all pupils. This is particularly important when planning teaching for pupils with special educational needs and disabilities as they represent a large minority of pupils. High quality teaching that is differentiated and personalised will be the starting point to ensure accessibility. Schools should also be mindful of the preparing for adulthood outcomes, ¹⁰ as set out in the SEND code of practice, when preparing these subjects for those with SEND.
- 31. Schools should be aware that some pupils are more vulnerable to exploitation, bullying and other issues due to the nature of their SEND. Relationships Education can also be a particular priority for some pupils, for example some

¹⁰ "Preparing for adulthood" outcomes are set out at section 7.38 of the SEND code of practice: 0 to 25 years.

- with Social, Emotional and Mental Health needs or learning disabilities. Such factors should be taken into consideration in designing and teaching these subjects.
- 32. In special schools and for some SEND pupils in mainstream schools there may be a need to tailor content and teaching to meet the specific needs of children at different developmental stages.

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT)

33. Schools are free to determine how they address LGBT specific content, but the Department recommends that it is integral throughout the programmes of study. As with all RSE teaching, schools should ensure that their teaching is sensitive, age-appropriate and delivered with reference to the law. With all RSE teaching, schools should ensure that their teaching is sensitive and age-appropriate.

Governors

- 34. As well as fulfilling their legal obligations, the governing boards or management committee should also make sure that:
 - all pupils make progress in achieving the expected educational outcomes;
 - the subjects are well led, effectively managed and well planned;
 - the quality of provision is subject to regular and effective self-evaluation;
 - teachers explore how new pedagogies and technology can be fully utilised to support the subjects;
 - teaching is delivered in ways that are accessible to all pupils with SEND;
 - clear information is provided for parents on the subject content and the right to request that their child is withdrawn; and,
 - the subjects are resourced, staffed and timetabled in a way that ensures that the school can fulfil its legal obligations.
- 35. Foundation governors and trustees of faith academy trusts will also have wider responsibilities in relation to maintaining and developing the religious ethos of the schools.

Working with parents/carers and the wider community

- 36. The role of parents in the development of their children's understanding about relationships is vital. Parents are the first educators of their children. They have the most significant influence in enabling their children to grow and mature and to form healthy relationships.
- 37. All schools should work closely with parents when planning and delivering these subjects. Schools should ensure that parents know what will be taught and when, and clearly communicate the fact that parents have the right to request that their child be withdrawn from some or all of sex education delivered as part of statutory RSE.

- 38. Parents should be given every opportunity to understand the purpose and content of Relationships Education and RSE. Good communication and opportunities for parents to understand and ask questions about the school's approach help increase confidence in the curriculum.
- 39. Many schools build a good relationship with parents on these subjects over time offering small group work or workshops can be one way of inviting parents into school to informally discuss what will be taught, address any concerns and help support parents in managing conversations with their children on these issues. This can be an important opportunity to talk about how these subjects contribute to wider support in terms of pupil wellbeing and keeping children safe. It is important through such processes to reach out to *all* parents, recognising that a range of approaches may be needed for doing so.
- 40. Many schools will have existing mechanisms in place to engage with parents and should continue to draw on these as they respond to the new legal framework.

Right to be excused from sex education (commonly referred to as the right to withdraw)

- 41. Parents have the right to request that their child be withdrawn from some or all of sex education delivered as part of statutory RSE. Before granting any such request it would be good practice for the head teacher to discuss the request with the parent and, as appropriate, with the child to ensure that their wishes are understood and to clarify the nature and purpose of the curriculum.
- 42. Good practice is also likely to include the head teacher discussing with the parent the benefits of receiving this important education and any detrimental effects that withdrawal might have on the child. This could include any social and emotional effects of being excluded, as well as the likelihood of the child hearing their peers' version of what was said in the classes, rather than what was directly said by the teacher (although the detrimental effects may be mitigated if the parent proposes to deliver sex education to their child at home instead).
- 43. Once those discussions have taken place, except in exceptional circumstances, the school should respect the parents' request to withdraw the child, up to and until three terms before the child turns 16. After that point, if the child wishes to receive sex education rather than be withdrawn, the school should make arrangements to provide the child with sex education during one of those terms.
- 44. For the vast majority of pupils with SEND, including those with education, health and care plans, their SEND should not be a consideration for the head teacher in deciding whether to grant a parental request, however there may be exceptional circumstances where the head teacher will want to take a pupil's SEND into account when making this decision. The approach outlined above should be reflected in the school's policy on RSE.

- 45. Head teachers will automatically grant a request to withdraw a pupil from any sex education delivered in primary schools, other than as part of the science curriculum.
- 46. If a pupil is excused from sex education, it is the school's responsibility to ensure that the pupil receives appropriate, purposeful education during the period of withdrawal.

Working with external agencies

- 47. Working with external partners can enhance delivery of these subjects, bringing in specialist knowledge and different ways of engaging with young people.
- 48. As with any visitor, schools are responsible for ensuring that they check the visitor or visiting organisation's credentials. Schools should also ensure that the teaching delivered by the visitor fits with their planned programme and their published policy. It is important that schools discuss the detail of how the visitor will deliver their sessions and ensure that the content is age-appropriate and accessible for the pupils. Schools should ask to see the materials visitors will use in the sessions as well as a session plan in advance, so that they can coplan, including ensuring that it is adequately differentiated to meet the full range of pupils' needs (e.g. special educational needs). It is important to agree how confidentiality will work in any lesson and that the visitor understands how safeguarding reports should be dealt with in line with school policy. Further information for teachers in handling potential safeguarding or child protection reports is on page 32.
- 49. Use of visitors should be to enhance teaching by an appropriate member of the teaching staff, rather than as a replacement for teaching by those staff.

Relationships Education (Primary)

- 50. The focus in primary school should be on teaching the fundamental building blocks and characteristics of positive relationships, with particular reference to friendships, family relationships, and relationships with other peers and adults.
- 51. This starts with pupils being taught about what a relationship is, what friendship is, what family means and who the people are who can support them. From the beginning of primary school, building on early education, children should be taught how to take turns, how to treat each other with kindness, consideration and respect, the importance of honesty and truthfulness, permission seeking and giving, and the concept of personal privacy.
- 52. Respect for others should be taught in an age-appropriate way, in terms of understanding one's own and others' boundaries in play, in negotiations about space, toys, resources and so on.
- 53. From the beginning, teachers should talk explicitly about the features of healthy friendships, family relationships and other relationships which young children

- are likely to encounter. Drawing attention to these when they are encountered in a range of contexts should enable pupils to form a strong early understanding of the features of relationships that are likely to lead to happiness and security. This will also help them to recognise any less positive relationships when they encounter them.
- 54. The principles of positive relationships apply as much online as they do offline especially as, by the end of primary school, many children will already be negotiating relationships seamlessly online and offline. When teaching relationships content, teachers should address online safety and appropriate behaviour in a way that is relevant to pupil's lives. Teachers should include content on how information and data is shared and used online, for example sharing pictures, understanding that many websites are businesses and how sites may use information provided by users in ways they might not expect.
- 55. Teaching about families requires sensitive and well-judged teaching based on knowledge of pupils and their circumstances. Families of many forms provide a nurturing environment for children. Care needs to be taken to ensure that there is no stigmatisation of children based on their home circumstances and needs, to reflect sensitively that some children may have a different structure of support around them, e.g. looked after children or young carers.
- 56. A growing ability to form strong and positive relationships with others depends on the deliberate cultivation of resilience and positive character attributes, or 'virtues', in the individual. Relationships Education is most effective when set in a school-wide context where resilience and virtues are actively developed, promoted and practised. This includes helping pupils to believe they can achieve, stick at tasks, work towards long-term rewards and persevere despite knocks. Positive virtues pupils should develop include honesty, integrity, self-control, courage, humility, kindness, forgiveness, generosity and a sense of justice. Schools should develop resilience and virtues in many ways, including by providing planned opportunities for young people to undertake social action, active citizenship and voluntary service to others locally or more widely. Relationships Education also creates an opportunity to enable pupils to be taught about positive emotional and mental wellbeing, including how friendships can support our mental wellbeing.
- 57. Through Relationships Education (and RSE), schools can help prevent abuse and protect children, by teaching the knowledge they need to be safe and to report abuse, including emotional, physical and sexual abuse. For example, in primary schools, this can be done by focusing on boundaries and privacy, ensuring young people are taught that they have rights over their own bodies and know how to report concerns or seek advice. This should include understanding boundaries in friendships with peers and also in families and with others (both online and offline). These subjects complement Health Education and as part of a comprehensive programme and whole school approach, this knowledge can support safeguarding all children.

By the end of primary school:

Families and	Pupile should know
people who	Pupils should know
care for me	that families are important for children growing up because they
	can give love, security and stability.
	the characteristics of healthy family life, commitment to each
	other, including in times of difficulty, protection and care for
	children and other family members, the importance of spending
	time together and sharing each other's lives.
	that others' families, either in school or in the wider world,
	sometimes look different from their family, but that they should
	respect those differences and know that other children's families
	•
	are also characterised by love and care for them.
	that stable, caring relationships, which may be of different types,
	are at the heart of happy families, and are important for children's
	security as they grow up.
	that marriage ¹¹ /civil partnership represents a formal and legally
	recognised commitment of two people to each other which is
	intended to be lifelong.
	how to recognise if family relationships are making them feel
	unhappy or unsafe, and how to seek help or advice from others if
	needed.
Caring	Pupils should know
friendships	 how important friendships are in making us feel happy and secure,
	and how people choose and make friends.
	the characteristics of friendships, including mutual respect,
	truthfulness, trustworthiness, loyalty, trust, sharing interests and
	experiences and support with problems and difficulties.
	that healthy friendships are positive and welcoming towards
	others, and do not make others feel lonely or excluded.
	 that most friendships have ups and downs, and that these can
	often be worked through so that the friendship is repaired or even
	strengthened, and that resorting to violence is never right.
	how to recognise who to trust and who not to trust, how to judge
	when a friendship is making them feel unhappy or uncomfortable,
	how to manage these situations and how to seek help or advice
	from others, if needed.
Respectful	Pupils should know
relationships	the importance of respecting others, even when they are very
	different from them (for example, physically, in character,
	personality or backgrounds), or make different choices or have
	different preferences or beliefs.
	the conventions of courtesy and manners.
	l
	happiness.
-	 Pupils should know the importance of respecting others, even when they are very different from them (for example, physically, in character, personality or backgrounds), or make different choices or have different preferences or beliefs. the conventions of courtesy and manners. the importance of self-respect and how this links to their own

¹¹ Marriage in England and Wales is available to both opposite sex and same sex couples. The Marriage (Same Sex Couples) Act 2013 extended marriage to same sex couples in England and Wales. The ceremony through which a couple get married may be civil or religious.

	 that in school and in wider society they can expect to be treated with respect by others, and that in turn they should show due respect to others, including those in positions of authority. about different types of bullying (including cyberbullying), the impact of bullying, responsibilities of bystanders (primarily reporting bullying to an adult) and how to get help. what a stereotype is, and how stereotypes can be unfair, negative or destructive. the importance of permission-seeking and giving in relationships with friends, peers and adults.
Online	Pupils should know
relationships	 that people sometimes behave differently online, including by
	pretending to be someone they are not.
	• that the same principles apply to online relationships as to face-to-
	face relationships, including the importance of respect for others
	online including when we are anonymous.
	the rules and principles for keeping safe online, how to recognise
	risks, harmful content and contact, and how to report them.
	how to critically consider their online friendships and sources of
	information including awareness of the risks associated with
	people they have never met.
Daina aafa	how information and data is shared and used online.
Being safe	Pupils should know
	 what sorts of boundaries are appropriate in friendships with peers and others (including in a digital context).
	about the concept of privacy and the implications of it for both
	children and adults; including that it is not always right to keep
	secrets if they relate to being safe.
	that each person's body belongs to them, and the differences
	between appropriate and inappropriate or unsafe physical, and
	other, contact.
	 how to respond safely and appropriately to adults they may encounter who they do not know.
	how to ask for advice or help for self and for others, and to keep
	trying until they are heard, including having the vocabulary and
	confidence to report concerns or abuse.
	 where to get advice from e.g. family, school and/or other sources.

National curriculum for science

58. Maintained schools are required to teach the national curriculum for science. At key stages 1 and 2 this includes teaching about the main external body parts and changes to the human body as it grows from birth to old age, including puberty. There is no right to withdraw from the national curriculum.

Managing tricky questions

59. Primary-age pupils will often ask their teachers or other adults questions pertaining to sex or sexuality which go beyond what is set out for Relationships

- Education. The school's policy should cover how the school handles such questions. Given ease of access to the internet, children whose questions go unanswered may turn to inappropriate sources of information.
- 60. Meeting these objectives will require a graduated, age-appropriate programme of Relationship Education. Children of the same age may be developmentally at different stages, leading to differing types of questions or behaviours. Teaching methods should take account of those developmental differences (including when these are due to specific special educational needs or disabilities) and the potential for discussion on a one-to-one basis or in small groups. Schools should consider what is appropriate and inappropriate in a whole-class setting, as teachers may require support and training in answering questions that are better not dealt with in front of a whole class.

Sex Education (Primary)

- 61. The Relationships Education, RSE, and Health Education (England)
 Regulations 2019 have made Relationships Education compulsory in all
 primary schools. Sex education is **not** compulsory in primary schools and the
 content set out in this guidance therefore focuses on Relationships Education.
- 62. The content set out in this guidance covers everything that primary schools should teach on relationships and on health, including puberty. The national curriculum for science also includes subject content in related areas, such as the main external body parts, the human body as it grows from birth to old age (including puberty) and reproduction in some plants and animals. It will be for primary schools to determine whether they need to cover any additional content on sex education to meet the needs of their pupils. Many primary schools already choose to teach some aspects of sex education and will continue to do so, although it is not a requirement.
- 63. It is important that the transition phase before moving to secondary school supports pupils' ongoing emotional and physical development effectively. The Department continues to recommend therefore that all primary schools should have a sex education programme tailored to the age and the physical and emotional maturity of the pupils. It should ensure that both boys and girls are prepared for the changes adolescence brings and drawing on knowledge of the human life cycle set out in the national curriculum for science how a baby is conceived and born. As well as consulting parents more generally about the school's overall policy, primary schools should consult with parents before final year of primary school about the detailed content of what will be taught. This process should include offering parents support in talking to their children about sex education and how to link this with what is being taught in school. Meeting these objectives will require a graduated, age-appropriate programme of sex education. Teaching methods need to take account of the developmental differences of children.

64. Where a maintained primary school chooses to teach aspects of sex education (which go beyond the national curriculum for science), the school must set this out in their policy and all schools should consult with parents on what is to be covered. All primary schools that choose to teach sex education must allow parents a right to withdraw their children. Unlike sex education in RSE at secondary, in primary schools head teachers must comply with a parent's wish to withdraw their child from sex education beyond the national curriculum for science. Schools must also ensure that their teaching and materials are appropriate having regard to the age and religious backgrounds of their pupils. Schools will also want to recognise the significance of other factors, such as any special educational needs or disabilities of their pupils.

Relationships and Sex Education (RSE): Secondary

- 65. The aim of RSE is to give young people the information they need to help them develop healthy, nurturing relationships of all kinds, not just intimate relationships. It should enable them to know what a healthy relationship looks like and what makes a good friend, a good colleague and a successful marriage, civil partnership or other type of committed relationship. It should also cover contraception, developing intimate relationships and resisting pressure to have sex (and not applying pressure). It should teach what is acceptable and unacceptable behaviour in relationships. This will help pupils understand the positive effects that good relationships have on their mental wellbeing, identify when relationships are not right and understand how such situations can be managed.
- 66. Effective RSE does not encourage early sexual experimentation. It should teach young people to understand human sexuality and to respect themselves and others. It enables young people to mature, build up their confidence and self-esteem and understand the reasons for delaying sexual activity. Effective RSE also supports people, throughout life, to develop safe, fulfilling and healthy sexual relationships, at the appropriate time.
- 67. Knowledge about safer sex and sexual health remains important to ensure that young people are equipped to make safe, informed and healthy choices as they progress through adult life. This should be delivered in a non-judgemental, factual way and allow scope for young people to ask questions in a safe environment. Many teachers use approaches such as distancing techniques, setting ground rules with the class to help manage sensitive discussion and using question boxes to allow pupils to raise issues anonymously.
- 68. RSE should provide clear progression from what is taught in primary school in Relationships Education. Teachers should build on the foundation of Relationships Education and, as pupils grow up, at the appropriate time extend teaching to include intimate relationships. Alongside being taught about intimate relationships, pupils should also be taught about family relationships, friendships and other kinds of relationships that are an equally important part of becoming a successful and happy adult. This teaching should enable pupils to distinguish between content and experiences that exemplify healthy relationships and those that are distorted or harmful.

- 69. Pupils should understand the benefits of healthy relationships to their mental wellbeing and self-respect. Through gaining the knowledge of what a healthy relationship is like, they can be empowered to identify when relationships are unhealthy. They should be taught that unhealthy relationships can have a lasting, negative impact on mental wellbeing.
- 70. As in primary, secondary relationships education is most successful where teaching about positive relationships is underpinned by a wider, deliberate cultivation and practice of resilience and positive virtues in the individual. These should include believing you can achieve goals and sticking at tasks that will help you do so, even when the reward is distant or uncertain or you come up against challenges, honesty, integrity, self-control, courage, humility, kindness, forgiveness, generosity, trustworthiness and a sense of justice. There are many ways in which secondary schools should support the development of these virtues, for example by providing planned opportunities for young people to undertake social action, active citizenship and voluntary service to others locally or more widely.
- 71. Pupils should be taught the facts and the law about sex, sexuality, sexual health and gender identity in an age-appropriate and inclusive way. All pupils should feel that the content is relevant to them and their developing sexuality. Sexual orientation and gender identity should be explored at a timely point and in a clear, sensitive and respectful manner. When teaching about these topics, it must be recognised that young people may be discovering or coming to terms with their sexual orientation or gender identity. There should be an equal opportunity to explore the features of stable and healthy same-sex relationships. This should be integrated appropriately into the RSE programme, rather than addressed separately or in only one lesson.
- 72. It is recognised that there will be a range of opinions regarding RSE. The starting principle when teaching each of these must be that the applicable law should be taught in a factual way so that pupils are clear on their rights and responsibilities as citizens.
- 73. Schools may choose to explore faith, or other perspectives, on some of these issues in other subjects such as Religious Education.
- 74. Pupils should be well informed about the full range of perspectives and, within the law, should be well equipped to make decisions for themselves about how to live their own lives in the future, whilst respecting the right of others to make their own decisions and hold their own beliefs. Key aspects of the law relating to sex which should be taught include the age of consent, what consent is and is not, the definitions and recognition of rape, sexual assault and harassment, and choices permitted by the law around pregnancy.
- 75. Grooming, sexual exploitation and domestic abuse, including coercive and controlling behaviour, should also be addressed sensitively and clearly. Schools may also want to address the physical and emotional damage caused by female genital mutilation (FGM), where support is available and that it is a criminal offence to perform or assist in the performance of FGM or fail to protect a person for whom you are responsible from FGM. As well as addressing this in

the context of the law, pupils may also need support to recognise when relationships (including family relationships) are unhealthy or abusive (including the unacceptability of neglect, emotional, sexual and physical abuse and violence including honour-based violence and forced marriage) and strategies to manage this or access support for oneself or others at risk. Schools should also be mindful that for pupils who are or have experienced unhealthy or unsafe relationships at home or socially, the school may have a particularly important role in being a place of consistency and safety where they can easily speak to trusted adults, report problems and access support.

- 76. Internet safety and harms should also be addressed. Pupils should be taught rules and principles for keeping safe online. This will include how to recognise risks, harmful content and contact, and how and to whom to report issues. Pupils should have a strong understanding of how data is generated, collected, shared and used online, for example, how personal data is captured on social media or understanding the way that businesses may exploit the data available to them.
- 77. Some pupils are also exposed to harmful behaviours online, and via other forms of media, which may normalise violent sexual behaviours. A focus on healthy relationships and broader Relationships Education can help young people understand acceptable behaviours in relationships.

Schools should continue to develop knowledge on topics specified for primary as required and in addition cover the following content by the end of secondary:

Families	Pupils should know
	• that there are different types of committed, stable relationships.
	how these relationships might contribute to human happiness and
	their importance for bringing up children.
	what marriage and civil partnerships are, including their legal
	status e.g. that marriage and civil partnerships carry legal rights
	and protections not available to couples who are cohabiting or
	who have married, for example, in an unregistered religious
	ceremony.
	 why marriage is an important relationship choice for many couples
	and why it must be freely entered into.
	the characteristics and legal status of other types of long-term
	relationships.
	the roles and responsibilities of parents with respect to the raising
	of children.
	how to: determine whether peers, adults or sources of information
	are trustworthy, judge when a family, friend, intimate or other
	relationships is unsafe (and to recognise this in others'
	relationships); and, how to seek help or advice, including reporting
	concerns about others, if needed.
Respectful	Pupils should know
relationships,	the characteristics of positive and healthy friendships (both on and
including	offline) including: trust, respect, honesty, boundaries, privacy,
friendships	consent and the management of conflict, reconciliation and ending

relationships. This includes different (non-sexual) types of relationship. how stereotypes, in particular stereotypes based on sex, gender, race, religion, sexual orientation or disability, can cause damage (e.g. how they might normalise non-consensual behaviour or encourage prejudice). that in school and in wider society they can expect to be treated with respect by others, and that in turn they should show due tolerance and respect to others and others' beliefs, including people in positions of authority. about different types of bullying (including cyberbullying), the impact of bullying, responsibilities of bystanders to report bullying and how and where to get help. that some types of behaviour within relationships are criminal, including violent behaviour and coercive control. what constitutes sexual harassment and sexual violence and why these are always unacceptable. the legal rights and responsibilities regarding equality (particularly with reference to the protected characteristics as defined in the Equality Act 2010) and that everyone is unique and equal. Online and Pupils should know media their rights, responsibilities and opportunities online, including that the same expectations of behaviour apply online and offline. about online risks, including that any material someone provides to another has the potential to be shared online and the difficulty of removing potentially compromising material placed online. not to provide material to others that they would not want shared further and not to share personal material which is sent to them. what to do and where to get support to report material or manage issues online. the impact of viewing harmful content. that specifically sexually explicit material often presents a distorted picture of sexual behaviours, can damage the way people see themselves in relation to others and negatively affect how they behave towards sexual partners. that sharing and viewing indecent images of children (including those created by children) is against the law. how information and data is generated, collected, shared and used online. Being safe Pupils should know the concepts of, and laws relating to, sexual consent, sexual exploitation, abuse, grooming, coercion, harassment and domestic abuse and how these can affect current and future relationships. how people can actively communicate and recognise consent from others, including sexual consent, and how and when consent can be withdrawn (on and offline). Intimate and Pupils should know sexual how to recognise the characteristics and positive aspects of relationships, healthy one-to-one intimate relationships, which include mutual including sexual health

- respect, consent, loyalty, trust, shared interests and outlook, sex and friendship.
- that all aspects of health can be affected by choices they make in sex and relationships, positively or negatively, e.g. physical, emotional, mental, sexual and reproductive health and wellbeing.
- the facts about reproductive health, including fertility and the potential impact of lifestyle on fertility for men and women.
- that there are a range of strategies for identifying and managing sexual pressure, including understanding peer pressure, resisting pressure and not pressurising others.
- that they have a choice to delay sex or to enjoy intimacy without sex.
- the facts about the full range of contraceptive choices and options available.
- the facts around pregnancy including miscarriage.
- that there are choices in relation to pregnancy (with medically and legally accurate, impartial information on all options, including keeping the baby, adoption, abortion and where to get further help).
- how the different sexually transmitted infections (STIs), including HIV/AIDs, are transmitted, how risk can be reduced through safer sex (including through condom use) and the importance of and facts about testing.
- how prevalence of some STIs, the impact they can have on those who contract them and key facts about treatment.
- how the use of alcohol and drugs can lead to risky sexual behaviour.
- how to get further advice, including how and where to access confidential sexual and reproductive health advice and treatment.

National curriculum for science

78. Maintained schools are also required to teach the national curriculum for science. At key stage 3 and 4 this includes teaching about reproduction in humans, for example the structure and function of the male and female reproductive systems, menstrual cycles, gametes, fertilisation, gestation, birth and HIV/AIDS. There continues to be **no** right of withdrawal from any part of the national curriculum.

The Law

79. It is important to know what the law says about sex, relationships and young people, as well as broader safeguarding issues. This includes a range of important facts and the rules regarding sharing personal information, pictures, videos and other material using technology. This will help young people to know what is right and wrong in law, but it can also provide a good foundation of knowledge for deeper discussion about all types of relationships. There are also many different legal provisions whose purpose is to protect young people and some which ensure young people take responsibility for their actions. Pupils should be made aware of the relevant legal provisions when relevant topics are being taught, including for example:

- marriage and civil partnerships
- consent, including the age of consent
- violence against women and girls
- online behaviours including image and information sharing (including 'sexting', youth-produced sexual imagery, nudes, etc.)
- pornography
- abortion
- sexuality
- gender identity
- substance misuse
- violence and exploitation by gangs
- extremism/radicalisation
- criminal exploitation (for example, through gang involvement or 'county lines' drugs operations)
- hate crime

Physical health and mental wellbeing

- 80. The aim of teaching pupils about physical health and mental wellbeing is to give them the information that they need to make good decisions about their own health and wellbeing, recognise issues in themselves and others and, when issues arise, seek support as early as possible from appropriate sources.
- 81. Physical health and mental wellbeing are interlinked, and it is important that pupils understand that good physical health contributes to good mental wellbeing, and vice versa.
- 82. It is important for schools to actively promote pupils' self-control and ability to self-regulate, so that increasingly they become confident in their ability to achieve well and persevere even when they encounter setbacks or when their goals are distant. This integrated, whole-school approach to the teaching and promotion of health and wellbeing has a potential positive impact on behaviour and attainment.
- 83. Effective teaching should aim to reduce stigma attached to health issues, in particular those to do with mental wellbeing. Schools should engender an atmosphere that encourages openness. This will mean that pupils feel they can check their understanding and seek any necessary help and advice as they gain knowledge about how to promote good health and wellbeing.
- 84. Schools have flexibility to design and plan age-appropriate subject content, but this guidance sets out core areas below for health and wellbeing that are appropriate for primary and secondary aged pupils.
- 85. Puberty should be covered in Health Education and should be addressed before onset so, as far as possible, pupils are prepared in advance for changes they will experience. Schools will need to consider the needs of their cohort of pupils.

Physical health and mental wellbeing: Primary

- 86. The focus in primary school should be on teaching the characteristics of good physical health and mental wellbeing. Teachers should be clear that mental wellbeing is a normal part of daily life, in the same way as physical health.
- 87. This starts with pupils being taught about the benefits of daily exercise, good nutrition and sufficient sleep, and giving pupils the language and knowledge to understand the normal range of emotions that everyone experiences. This should enable pupils to articulate how they are feeling, develop the language to talk about their bodies, health and emotions and judge whether what they are feeling and how they are behaving is appropriate and proportionate for the situations that they experience.
- 88. Teachers should go on to talk about the steps pupils can take to protect and support their own and others' health and wellbeing, including simple self-care techniques, personal hygiene, prevention of health and wellbeing problems and basic first aid.
- 89. Emphasis should be given to the positive two-way relationship between good physical health and good mental wellbeing, and the benefits to mental wellbeing of physical exercise and time spent outdoors.
- 90. Pupils should also be taught the benefits of hobbies, interests and participation in their own communities. This teaching should make clear that people are social beings and that spending time with others, taking opportunities to consider the needs of others and practising service to others, including in organised and structured activities and groups (for example the scouts or girl guide movements), are beneficial for health and wellbeing.
- 91. Pupils should be taught about the benefits of balancing time spent on and offline. In later primary school, pupils should be taught why social media, computer games and online gaming have age restrictions. Pupils should be equipped to manage common difficulties encountered online.
- 92. A firm foundation in the benefits and characteristics of good health and wellbeing will enable teachers to talk about isolation, loneliness, unhappiness, bullying and the negative impact of poor health and wellbeing.

By the end of primary school:

Mental wellbeing

Pupils should know

- that mental wellbeing is a normal part of daily life, in the same way as physical health.
- that there is a normal range of emotions (e.g. happiness, sadness, anger, fear, surprise, nervousness) and scale of emotions that all humans experience in relation to different experiences and situations.

- how to recognise and talk about their emotions, including having a varied vocabulary of words to use when talking about their own and others' feelings. how to judge whether what they are feeling and how they are
- behaving is appropriate and proportionate.
- the benefits of physical exercise, time outdoors, community participation, voluntary and service-based activity on mental wellbeing and happiness.
- simple self-care techniques, including the impact of relaxation, time spent with friends and family and the benefits of hobbies and interests.
- isolation and loneliness can affect children and that it is very important for children to discuss their feelings with an adult and seek support.
- that bullying (including cyberbullying) has a negative and often lasting impact on mental wellbeing.
- where and how to seek support (including recognising the triggers for seeking support), including whom in school they should speak to if they are worried about their own or someone else's mental wellbeing or ability to control their emotions (including issues arising online).
- it is common for people to experience mental ill health. For many people who do, the problems can resolve if the right support is made available and accessed, especially if they access support as early as possible.

Internet safety and harms

Pupils should know

- that for most people the internet is an integral part of life and has many benefits.
- about the benefits of balancing time spent on and offline and the impact of positive and negative content online on their own and others' mental wellbeing.
- how to consider the effect of their online actions on others and know how to recognise and display respectful behaviour online.
- why social media, some computer games and online gaming, for example, are age restricted.
- that the internet can also be a negative place where online abuse, trolling, bullying and harassment can take place, which can have a negative impact on mental health.

Physical health and fitness

Pupils should know

- the characteristics and mental and physical benefits of an active lifestyle.
- the importance of building regular exercise into daily and weekly routines and how to achieve this, for example a daily active mile or other forms of regular, vigorous exercise.
- the risks associated with an inactive lifestyle (including obesity).

Healthy eating

Pupils should know

- what constitutes a healthy diet (including understanding calories, and nutritional content).
- the principles of planning and preparing a range of healthy meals.

	,
	• the characteristics of a poor diet and risks associated with unhealthy eating (including, for example, obesity) and other behaviours (e.g. the impact of alcohol on diet or health).
Drugs,	Pupils should know
alcohol	the facts about legal and illegal harmful substances and associated
and	risks, including smoking, alcohol use and drug-taking.
tobacco	
Health and	Pupils should know
prevention	 how to recognise early signs of physical illness, such as weight loss, or unexplained changes to the body.
	 about safe and unsafe exposure to the sun, and how to reduce the risk of sun damage, including skin cancer.
	the importance of sufficient good quality sleep for good health and that a lack of sleep can affect weight, mood and ability to learn.
	 about dental health and the benefits of good oral hygiene, including visits to the dentist.
	 about personal hygiene and germs including bacteria, viruses, how they are spread and the importance of handwashing.
	about immunisations.
Basic first	Pupils should know:
aid	 know how to make a clear and efficient call to emergency services if necessary.
	 concepts of basic first-aid, for example dealing with common injuries, including head injuries.
Changing	Pupils should know:
adolescent	 key facts about puberty and the changing adolescent body,
body	particularly from age 9 through to age 11, including physical and
	emotional changes.
1	

Physical health and mental wellbeing: Secondary

- 93. In secondary school, health and wellbeing education should build on primary content and should introduce new content to older pupils at appropriate points. This should enable pupils to understand how their bodies are changing, how they are feeling and why, to further develop the language that they use to talk about their bodies, health and emotions and to understand why terms associated with mental and physical health difficulties should not be used pejoratively. This knowledge should enable pupils to understand where normal variations in emotions and physical complaints end and health and wellbeing issues begin.
- 94. Teaching about the impact of puberty, which will have started in primary school, should continue in secondary school, so that pupils are able to understand the physical and emotional changes, which take place at this time and their impact on their wider health and wellbeing.
- 95. Emphasis should continue to be given to steps pupils can take to protect and support their own health and wellbeing. They should know that there is a

relationship between good physical health and good mental wellbeing. This can also influence their ability to learn. Teachers should cover the benefits of physical activity and time spent outdoors. This should be linked to information on the benefits of sufficient sleep and good nutrition.

- 96. Pupils should know the contribution that hobbies, interests and participation in their own communities can make to overall wellbeing. They should understand that humans are social beings and that outward-facing activity, especially that with a service focus (for example, work, volunteering and participation in organisations such as the scouts or the girl guiding movements, the National Citizen Service or the Duke of Edinburgh Award) are beneficial for wellbeing. This can also contribute to the development of the attributes for a happy and successful adult life. Pupils should understand that self-focused or isolating lifestyle choices can lead to unhappiness and being disconnected from society.
- 97. It is important that the starting point for health and wellbeing education should be a focus on enabling pupils to make well-informed, positive choices for themselves. Against that background, they should also be taught about common problems. This should include factual information about the prevalence and characteristics of more serious mental and physical health conditions, drugs, alcohol and information about effective interventions. Teachers should be aware of common 'adverse childhood experiences' and when and how these may be affecting any of their pupils and so may be influencing how they experience these subjects. The impact of time spent online, the positive aspects of online support and negotiating social media, including online forums and gaming, should also be included. Teachers should understand that pupils who have experienced problems at home may depend more on schools for support.
- 98. Pupils should be taught how to judge when they, or someone they know, needs support and where they can seek support if they have concerns. This should include details on which adults in school (e.g. school nurses), and external sources of support, can help.

Menstruation

99. The onset of menstruation can be confusing or even alarming for girls if they are not prepared. As with education about puberty, programmes should include understanding of and preparation for menstruation, for all pupils. Schools should also make adequate and sensitive arrangements to help girls manage menstruation and with requests for sanitary protection

Schools should continue to develop knowledge on topics specified for primary as required and in addition cover the following content by the end of secondary:

Mental	Pupils should know
wellbeing	how to talk about their emotions accurately and sensitively, using
	appropriate vocabulary.

	 that happiness is linked to being connected to others. how to recognise the early signs of mental wellbeing issues. common types of mental ill health (e.g. anxiety and depression). how to critically evaluate when something they do or are involved in has a positive or negative effect on their own or others' mental health. the benefits of physical exercise, time outdoors, community participation and voluntary and service-based activities on mental wellbeing and happiness.
Internet	Pupils should know
safety and harms	 the similarities and differences between the online world and the physical world, including: the impact of unhealthy or obsessive
nai iiis	comparison with others online through setting unrealistic expectations for body image, how people may curate a specific image of their life online, over-reliance on online relationships (including social media), how advertising and information is targeted at them and how to be a discerning consumer of information online. • how to identify harmful behaviours online (including bullying,
	abuse or harassment) and how to report, or get support, if they have been affected by those behaviours
Physical	Pupils should know
health and	the positive associations between physical activity and promotion
fitness	of mental wellbeing, including as an approach to combat stress.
	 the characteristics and evidence of what constitutes a healthy lifestyle, maintaining a healthy weight, including the links between an inactive lifestyle and ill health, including cancer and cardiovascular ill-health. facts about wider issues such as organ/blood donation.
Healthy	Pupils should know
eating	 how to maintain healthy eating and the links between a poor diet
9	and health risks, including eating disorders ¹² and cancer.
Drugs,	Pupils should know
alcohol	 the facts about legal substances and illegal substances, including
and	drug-taking, and the associated risks, including the link to serious
tobacco	mental health conditions.
	 the law relating to the supply and possession of illegal substances.
	 the physical and psychological risks associated with alcohol consumption and what constitutes (relatively) safe alcohol consumption.
	 the physical and psychological consequences of addiction, including alcohol dependency.
	 awareness of the dangers of drugs which are prescribed but still present serious health risks.
	 the facts about the harms from smoking tobacco (particularly the link to lung cancer), the benefits of quitting and how to access support to do so.

¹² Eating disorders and extreme weight loss are a specialised area and schools should access qualified support or advice as needed. They should avoid addressing them without that support.

Health and	Pupils should know
prevention	 about personal hygiene, germs (including microbes), the spread, treatment and prevention of infection, and about antibiotics. about dental health and the benefits of good oral hygiene and flossing, including visits to the dentist. (late secondary) the benefits of regular self-examination (including screening and immunisation). the importance of sufficient good quality sleep for good health and how a lack of sleep can affect weight, mood and ability to learn.
Basic first	Pupils should know
aid	basic treatment for common injuries.
	 life-saving skills, including how to administer CPR.¹³
	the purpose of defibrillators and when one might be needed.
Changing	Pupils should know
adolescent	 key facts about puberty and the changing adolescent body.
body	the main changes which take place in males and females, and
	the implications for emotional and physical health.

National curriculum for physical education (PE) and sport

100. The national curriculum for PE aims to ensure that pupils:

- develop competence to excel in a broad range of physical activities;
- are physically active for sustained periods of time;
- engage in competitive sports and activities; and,
- lead healthy, active lives.
- 101. Schools are able to integrate education about physical health into their broader curriculum and whole school life and can tailor their offer to meet the needs of their pupils. Health education should complement what is already taught through physical education, developing core knowledge and broader understanding that enables people to lead healthy, active lives.

National curriculum for computing

102. The national curriculum for computing aims to ensure that all pupils:

- can understand and apply the fundamental principles and concepts of computer science, including abstraction, logic, algorithms and data representation
- can analyse problems in computational terms, and have repeated practical experience of writing computer programs in order to solve such problems
- can evaluate and apply information technology, including new or unfamiliar technologies, analytically to solve problems
- are responsible, competent, confident and creative users of information and communication technology.

-

¹³ Cardio Pulmonary Resuscitation is usually best taught after 12 years old.

103. It also covers e-safety at all key stages, with progression in the content to reflect the different and escalating risks that young people face as they get older. This includes how to use technology safely, responsibly, respectfully and securely, how to keep personal information private, and where to go for help and support when they have concerns about content or contact on the internet or other online technologies.

Delivery and teaching strategies

Pupil Referral Units/Alternative Provision

104. Pupil referral units (PRUs), alternative provision (AP) academies and free schools and independent schools that provide AP are required to make provision for Relationships Education, RSE and Health Education in the same way as mainstream schools; and they must have regard to this guidance in delivering their programme. In teaching these subjects in PRUs, AP academies and free schools, and independent¹⁴ AP schools, specific thought should be given to the particular needs and vulnerabilities of the pupils.

Senior leadership

105. Schools which demonstrate effective practice often have strong ownership of these subjects by a senior leader and a teacher with dedicated time to lead specialist provision, e.g. a subject lead or co-ordinator.

Whole-school approach

106. All of these subjects should be set in the context of a wider whole-school approach to supporting pupils to be safe, happy and prepared for life beyond school. For example, the curriculum on relationships and on sex should complement, and be supported by, the school's wider policies on behaviour, inclusion, respect for equality and diversity, bullying and safeguarding (including handling of any reporting children and young people may make as a result of the lessons). The subjects will sit within the context of a school's broader ethos and approach to developing pupils socially, morally, spiritually and culturally; and its pastoral care system. This is also the case for teaching on mental health within health education. The curriculum on health education should similarly complement, and be supported by, the school's wider education on healthy lifestyles through physical education, food technology, science and its sport, extra-curricular activity and school food.

107. Schools should consider how their teaching can help support the development of important attributes in pupils, such as honesty, tolerance, resilience and self-efficacy, as well as how those attributes are also developed by other aspects of the school's provision. The curriculum should proactively address issues in a timely way in line with current evidence on children's physical, emotional and

¹⁴ Independent schools do not have to have regard to the guidance on Health Education, although they may find it helpful in planning.

sexual development. This should be in line with pupil need, informed by pupil voice and participation in curriculum development and in response to issues as they arise in the school and wider community.

Flexibility

- 108. Schools will retain freedom to determine an age-appropriate, developmental curriculum which meets the needs of young people, is developed in consultation with parents and the local community. Schools must also comply with the relevant provisions of the Equality Act as noted earlier. Where appropriate this may also require a differentiated curriculum. Schools have specific duties to increase the extent to which disabled pupils can participate in the curriculum.
- 109. Flexibility is important as it allows schools to respond to local public health and community issues, meet the needs of their community and adapt materials and programmes to meet the needs of pupils (for example in teaching about gangs or high local prevalence of specific sexually transmitted infections).

Safeguarding, reports of abuse and confidentiality

- 110. At the heart of these subjects there is a focus on keeping children safe, and schools can play an important role in preventative education. Keeping Children Safe in Education (KCSIE) sets out that all schools and colleges should ensure children are taught about safeguarding, including how to stay safe online, as part of providing a broad and balanced curriculum.
- 111. Good practice allows children an open forum to discuss potentially sensitive issues. Such discussions can lead to increased safeguarding reports. Children should be made aware of the processes to raise their concerns or make a report and how any report will be handled. This should include processes when they have a concern about a friend or peer.
- 112. KCSIE is clear that all staff should know what to do if a child tells them that they are being abused or neglected or are witnessing abuse. Staff should know how to manage the requirement to maintain an appropriate level of confidentiality. This means only involving those that need to be involved, such as the Designated Safeguarding Lead (or deputy) and children's social care. Staff should never promise a child that they will not tell anyone about a report of abuse, as this may ultimately not be in the best interests of the child.
- 113. Good practice would be to involve the Designated Safeguarding Lead (or a deputy) in anything that is safeguarding-related in the context of these subjects. They will potentially have knowledge of trusted, high quality local resources that could be engaged, links to the police and other agencies and the knowledge of any particular local issues which it may be appropriate to address in lessons.

114. Where a school invites external agencies in to support delivery of these subjects, they must agree in advance of the session how a safeguarding report should be dealt with by the external visitor. It is important that children understand how confidentiality will be handled in a lesson and what might happen if they choose to make a report.

Assessment

- 115. Schools should have the same high expectations of the quality of pupils' work in these subjects as for other curriculum areas. A strong curriculum will build on the knowledge pupils have previously acquired, including in other subjects, with regular feedback provided on pupil progress.
- 116. Lessons should be planned to ensure that pupils of differing abilities, including the most able, are suitably challenged. Teaching should be assessed and assessments used to identify where pupils need extra support or intervention.
- 117. Whilst there is no formal assessment for these subjects in the sense of an examination, Ofsted15 has highlighted some areas to consider in strengthening quality of provision, and which demonstrate how teachers can assess outcomes. Ofsted cites an example of outstanding practice in assessment in a secondary school that uses a range of methods, for example, written assignments or self-evaluations, to capture progress.

Accountability

118. Key aspects of Relationships Education, RSE and Health Education are in scope for Ofsted inspection, for example through inspectors' consideration of pupils' personal development, behaviour and welfare; and pupils' spiritual, moral, social and cultural development.

¹⁵ Ofsted, "Not Yet Good Enough: Personal, Social, Health and Economic Education in Schools" (2012), health_and_economic_education_in_schools.pdf.

Annex A Regulations

Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education, and Health Education

The Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education, and Health Education (England) Regulations 2019 are made under sections 34 and 35 of the Children and Social Work Act 2017, and provide that pupils receiving primary education must be taught Relationships Education, pupils receiving secondary education must be taught RSE and that all primary and secondary pupils must be taught Health Education. The new subjects of Relationships Education and RSE must be taught in all maintained schools, academies and independent schools. This includes pupil referral units, maintained special schools, special academies, and non-maintained special schools. All schools, except independent schools, must make provision for Health Education.

The regulations require the Secretary of State to publish guidance on Relationships Education, RSE, and Health Education; require schools to have regard to that guidance; require schools to make a statement of policy on their provision of Relationships Education and RSE; and set out the circumstances in which a pupil is to be excused from RSE.

The regulations and guidance under section 35 (Health Education) do not apply to independent schools – they will continue to make provision for the health education element of PSHE under the Education (Independent School Standards) Regulations 2014.

Annex B Suggested resources

Teaching resources

There are many excellent resources available, free of charge, which schools can draw on when delivering these subjects. Schools should assess each resource that they propose to use carefully to ensure it is appropriate for the age and maturity of pupils and sensitive to their needs. Schools should also consider drawing on the expertise of the main subject associations who often quality assure third party resources. We also recognise that schools use resources from representative bodies e.g. many Catholic and other schools draw on the model curricula provided by the Catholic Education Service.

Schools should also ensure that, when they consult with parents, they provide examples of the resources they plan to use, as this can be reassuring for parents, and enables them to continue the conversations started in class at home.

This is for illustrative purposes and is not an exhaustive list.

Relationships Education

Safeguarding: NSPCC PANTS rule with film https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/keeping-children-safe/underwear-rule/underwear-rule-schools-teaching-resources/

Example of model primary curricula http://catholiceducation.org.uk/schools/relationship-sex-education

Relationships and Sex Education

Sexual health and relationships: range of resources available at https://sexwise.fpa.org.uk/

Abuse in relationships: Disrespect NoBody (Home Office and Government Equalities Office) https://www.pshe-association.org.uk/curriculum-and-resources/resources/disrespect-nobody-teaching-resources-preventing

Consent: PSHE Association lesson plans https://www.pshe-association.org.uk/curriculum-and-resources/resources/guidance-teaching-about-consent-pshe-education-key

LGBT inclusivity: Stonewall lesson plans and materials for primary and secondary https://www.stonewall.org.uk/get-involved/education/different-families-same-love

Online and offline relationships and bullying, alcohol, smoking, stress, body image: Public Health England website with videos made by young people and resources tested with teachers https://campaignresources.phe.gov.uk/schools/topics/rise-above/overview?WT.mc_id=RiseAboveforSchools_PSHEA_EdComs_Resource_listing_Sep17

Example model secondary curricula: http://catholiceducation.org.uk/schools/relationship-sex-education

Mental health

Mental health and emotional wellbeing: PSHE Association lesson plans https://www.pshe-association.org.uk/curriculum-and-resources/resources/guidance-preparing-teach-about-mental-health-and

Online safety

Education for a Connected World: UKCCIS framework of digital knowledge and skills for different ages and stages

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/683895/Education_for_a_connected_world_PDF.PDF

Sexting: UKCCIS advice for schools on preventative education and managing reports of sexting.

https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/uk-council-for-child-internet-safety-ukccis

PSHE

PSHE Association Programme of study for KS1-5 https://www.pshe-association.org.uk/curriculum-and-resources/programme-study-pshe-education-key-stages-1%E2%80%935

Drugs and alcohol

Planning effective drug and alcohol education: Mentor-ADEPIS research and briefing papers with ideas for lessons http://mentor-adepis.org/planning-effective-education/

Extremism and radicalisation

Practical advice and information for teachers, school leaders and parents on protecting children from extremism and radicalisation www.educateagainsthate.com

Curriculum

Non-statutory framework for Citizenship KS 1 and 2 (Non-statutory programme of study). Schools may wish to draw on the Citizenship programme of study in their planning.

Data to understand the health and wellbeing needs of the local school-age population

Public Health England's Child and Maternal Health Intelligence Network https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health brings together a range of publicly available data, information, reports, tools and resources on child and maternal health into one easily accessible hub.

It includes school-age health profiles https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/child-health-school-age

and young people's health profiles:

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/child-health-young-people

The indicators allow areas to see how they perform against the national average and against other local areas. These tools, accompanied by local health intelligence, will be useful in supporting school leaders to identify and respond to the particular health and wellbeing needs of their local school-age population.

There are also early years profiles https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health-profile/child-health-early-years

Annex C Cross-government strategies

These subjects support many cross-government strategies of which schools will want to be aware. Whilst we have not referenced all strategies or supporting documents, we have included some of the key areas below.

- <u>Transforming Children and Young People's Mental Health Provision</u>: the Green Paper the Green Paper announced new support in and near schools and colleges to support children and young people with their mental health.
- The <u>drug strategy</u> 2017 sets out how the government and its partners, at local, national and international levels, will take new action to tackle drug misuse and the harms it causes.
- <u>Internet Safety Strategy</u> green paper sets out steps towards developing a coordinated strategic approach to online safety.
- The Children's Commissioner <u>Digital 5 A Day</u> provides a simple framework that reflects the concerns of parents as well as children's behaviours and needs.
- Government aims to significantly reduce England's rate of childhood obesity within the next ten years. The <u>childhood obesity plan</u> sets out the approach to reduce childhood obesity.
- <u>Guidance</u> from the Chief Medical Office (CMO) on how much physical activity people should be doing, along with supporting documents.
- Over the last 18 years there has been significant progress on teenage pregnancy, summarised in the <u>Teenage Pregnancy prevention framework</u>, alongside evidence references and good practice.
- Sustaining the downward trend and making further progress is one of the key
 objectives of the Department of Health's and Social Care's <u>Framework for Sexual
 Health Improvement in England</u>. These subjects provide a key opportunity to
 strengthen support for young people to develop healthy relationships and prevent
 early unplanned pregnancy.



© Crown copyright 2018

This publication (not including logos) is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

To view this licence:

visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3

email psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk

Write to Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London, TW9 4DU

About this publication:

enquiries <u>www.education.gov.uk/contactus</u>

Download www.gov.uk/government/publications

Reference: [000-000-000]



Follow us on Twitter: @educationgovuk



Like us on Facebook:

facebook.com/educationgovuk